THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5503 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 26, 2017)

RECEIVED

OCT 16 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

V.

WALLACE STEVE PERRY,PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001965

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Kerri A. Rupert
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
krupert@murphygrantland.com
Post Office Box 6648
Columbia, South Carolina 292260
(803) 454-1253

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent
Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343
Attorneys for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding Brandy Newcomer's testimony was admissible evidence of a common scheme or plan and her testimony was more probative than prejudicial under Rule 403, of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err Dr. Henderson did not improperly comment on the veracity of Daughter Three's testimony?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to trial, the State proffered the testimony of Brandy Newcomer as a witness under Rule 404(b), South Carolina Rules of Evidence, to testify about the prior bad acts of Petitioner Wallace Steve Perry ("Perry"). (App. p. 22, ll. 6-9). Newcomer was Perry's stepdaughter from a prior marriage. (App. p. 22, ll. 22-25). The State represented that Perry allegedly digitally penetrated Newcomer, performed oral sex on her, and the two eventually had sex. (App. p. 23, ll. 1-6). However, the State offered to limit Newcomer's testimony about having sex with Perry to redact dissimilar particulars of the sexual conduct. (App. p. 23, ll. 7-11). During the proffer, Newcomer testified Perry snuck into her room one night, the sexual abuse "progressed," and "the penetration and everything started." (App. p. 28, ll. 23-25).

The State argued Newcomer was a proper 404(b) witness for showing a motive, common scheme, or plan because (1) she, Daughter Two, and Daughter Three were "tweens" when the abuse occurred; (2) Perry was the father figure for all three girls; (3) the abuse always occurred in

Perry's home; (4) the alleged abuse of the three girls involved digital penetration and occurred during nighttime hours; and (5) Perry threatened the girls would get into trouble if they said anything. (App. p. 35, ll. 1-App. p. 36, ll. 15). Perry objected to Newcomer as a 404(b) witness. (App. p. 31, ll. 7-8; App. p. 38, ll. 10-13). Perry issued a subpoena to the Spartanburg Solicitor's Office regarding the charges against Perry relating to Newcomer. (App. p. 39, ll. 10-19). The Solicitor's Office did not have any records on any charges related to Newcomer, except that Perry participated in pre-trial intervention without admitting any guilt. (App. p. 39, ll. 13-19). The State admitted there was no trial because Newcomer was pregnant at the time, there were concerns the defense would characterize her as "sexually promiscuous," and she suffered from serious mental health issues. (App. p. 38, ll. 20-App. p. 39, ll. 5). The trial court reserved ruling on the issue. (App. p. 37, ll. 21-24).

During the trial, the trial court indicated it was inclined to allow Newcomer's testimony. (App. p. 157, ll. 1-2). Perry again objected to the admission of Newcomer's testimony. (App. p. 157, ll. 3-8). Perry argued the admission of Newcomer's testimony would only confuse the jury, divert attention away from the case at hand, and create serious prejudice. (App. p. 158, ll. 10-19). Moreover, Perry argued Newcomer's testimony was inadmissible to show a common scheme or plan because the State's attempt to tie Newcomer's testimony to Daughter Two and Daughter Three's testimony was too attenuated. (App. p. 159, ll. 14-19). The fact that the alleged abuse occurred in Perry's home or with people he knew did not create a common scheme or plan. (App. p. 159, ll. 14-19).

Perry also submitted records from the Solicitor's Office, which showed the records relating to any charges against Perry had been destroyed. (App. p. 160, ll. 1-2; App. p. 296-97). Thus, neither the State nor Perry had any way to review prior court records to determine Newcomer's

credibility. (App. p. 160, ll. 2-8). Finally, Perry argued the decision under State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009), was unconstitutional.¹ The trial court found Newcomer's testimony was admissible under the 404(b) exception. (App. p. 162, ll. 20-24).

Newcomer testified her mother and Perry married when she was around five years old, and they separated when she was fourteen years old. (App. p. 221, ll. 1-3). Newcomer, who was thirty-six years old at the time of Perry's trial, claimed Perry put his hands down her pajamas one night when she was nine years old. (App. p. 223, ll. 3-6). She stated this continued until Perry stopped touching her when she was thirteen years old. (App. p. 224, ll. 19-22). Newcomer recalled Perry usually touched her when she was in her bedroom, but sometimes it occurred in the bathroom. (App. p. 226, ll. 8-10). She alleged Perry performed oral sex on her once. (App. p. 226, ll. 16-18). Newcomer stated Perry threatened her not to tell because no one would believe Newcomer and Newcomer's accusations would hurt the family. (App. p. 224, ll. 4-5). She waited to tell her mother about Perry touching her until she was fourteen years old. (App. p. 224, ll. 11-12). Newcomer's mother and Perry were still married when Newcomer alleged Perry had inappropriately touched her, but her mother left Perry shortly thereafter due to Newcomer's allegations. (App. p. 227, ll. 8-10).

Perry met Laura Jones in their neighborhood in 1993, around the time he separated from Newcomer's mother. (App. p. 52, ll. 3-8). The pair never married, but they had two sets of twins—Daughter One and Daughter Two, and Daughter Three and Son. (App. p. 53, ll. 1-6). Daughter One and Daughter Two were born in 1994, and Daughter Three and Son were born in 1996. (App.

¹ In Wallace, the Supreme Court found a defendant's prior bad act of sexually abusing the accuser's sister was admissible.

p. 70, ll. 17-20). Perry and Jones separated in 2000, but they remained close friends after separating. (App. p. 53, ll. 7-8).

Although Perry and Jones did not have a formal custody arrangement, they decided Jones had custody during the week and Perry had custody on the weekends from Friday until Sunday afternoon. (App. p. 53, ll. 17-23). Perry also had custody of their children during the holidays. (App. p. 53, l. 23). Although there was no formal court order, Perry regularly paid child support. (App. p. 53, l. 25). When the pair separated, Daughter One and Daughter Two were five years old and Daughter Three and Son were three years old. (App. p. 54, ll. 9-10). Jones described Perry as a "very good father." (App. p. 55, ll. 1-2). Jones spoke with Perry often during the week, especially if one of their children was having issues at school. (App. p. 55; ll. 6-9).

In March 2012, Daughter Three told Jones that Perry had sexually abused her during her weekend visitations with him. (App. p. 55, ll. 14-22). Shortly thereafter, Daughter Two also claimed Perry sexually abused her. (App. p. 57, l. 21). Jones waited over two months before reporting the allegations of sexual abuse, and only after her older children urged her to report the accusations. (App. p. 55, ll. 19-25; App. p. 57, ll:11-13). Jones testified neither Daughter Three nor Daughter Two had ever claimed to have any problems with Perry before. (App. p. 62, ll. 9-13).

Daughter Three testified she was approximately three years old when her parents separated. (App. p. 72, ll. 5-7). Daughter Three recalled visiting Perry with her siblings every weekend as a child. (App. p. 72, l. 22). When the children first began visiting Perry, he was living at the Churchill Apartments where he worked in maintenance. (App. p. 72, ll. 15-16). Perry's apartment at Churchill had three bedrooms. (App. p. 72, ll. 10-11). Daughter Three recalled Son and Perry

each had their own room, and she slept with her two other sisters on one air mattress in the other bedroom. (App. p. 73, ll.13-19). Daughter Three alleged Perry came into their bedroom in the early morning hours and lay on the air mattress with the three girls. (App. p. 76, ll. 7-15). Daughter Three claimed she woke up one morning when Perry's finger was in her vagina. (App. p. 75, ll. 5-6). She stated Perry began touching her when she was ten years old until she was eleven years old. (App. p. 75, ll. 10-14; App. p. 98, ll. 8-13).

Daughter Three testified Perry never woke up the other two girls when he lay on the air mattress with them. (App. p. 76, ll. 16-19). Although Daughter One and Daughter Two never awoke during these alleged visits, Daughter Three claimed she woke up once when Perry began touching Daughter Two because she could feel the air mattress moving around. (App. p. 78, ll. 1-3). However, Daughter Three did not tell her mother about Perry allegedly touching her or her sister until she was in high school. (App. p. 80, ll. 11-22). Daughter Three claimed Perry threatened her not to tell because she would get in trouble or be taken away from her mother. (App. p. 75, ll. 19-23).

Daughter Two testified Perry began touching her when she was five or seven years old during her visits to his apartment on the weekends. (App. p. 115, ll. 17-18; App. p. 127, ll. 1-12). Daughter Two claimed Perry came into the girls' bedroom in the early morning hours. (App. p. 115, ll. 22-23). Daughter Two recalled her two sisters slept with her on an air mattress in their bedroom. (App. p. 116, ll. 4-9). According to Daughter Two, the air mattress was pushed against the side of one wall in their bedroom. (App. p. 124, ll. 11-12). Daughter One slept on the side of the air mattress facing the wall, Daughter Three slept in the middle of her two sisters, and Daughter Two slept on the outside of the air mattress. (App. p. 124, ll. 8-10).

Around 2007, Perry moved to the Carlyle Apartments. (App. p. 116, ll. 22-23). Daughter Two recalled she and Daughter Three shared a bedroom, Daughter One slept on the couch, and Perry shared a bedroom with Son while Perry lived at the Carlyle apartments. (App. p. 117, ll. 1-9). According to Daughter Two, Perry continued visiting her bedroom during the early morning hours. (App. p. 117, ll. 12-15). Perry allegedly threatened Daughter Two not to tell anyone or either the children would be taken away from their mother. (App. p. 116, ll. 1-3). Daughter Two claimed Perry put his fingers in her vagina, and he performed oral sex on her two times. (App. p. 117, ll. 12-15). She stated Perry stopped touching her when she was around sixteen or seventeen years old. (App. p. 120, ll. 12-17). Daughter Two continued visiting Perry every weekend until Daughter Three claimed Perry had abused her. (App. p. 120, ll. 10-11).

Daughter One—Daughter Two's twin sister—recalled sleeping on the air mattress at the Churchill Apartments with Daughter Two and Daughter Three. (App. p. 193, ll. 13-17). When Perry moved to the Carlyle apartments, Daughter One began sleeping on the couch while Daughter Two and Daughter Three continued to share a room. (App. p. 193, ll. 18-23). Daughter One never saw or heard Perry touching her sisters. (App. p. 195, ll. 1-7).

Detective Mary Thomas, of the Greenville Police Department, testified there was no physical evidence with this case. (App. p. 146, ll. 10-23). Dr. Nancy Henderson, qualified as an expert in child sexual abuse, testified she examined Daughter Two and Daughter Three. (App. pp. 178-79, ll. 14-ll. 6). Although Daughter Three had a normal examination with no specific findings, Dr. Henderson opined her findings were consistent with Daughter Three having experienced sexual abuse based solely on Daughter Three's allegations. (App. p. 185, ll. 16-19). Perry objected, arguing Dr. Henderson was improperly vouching, but the trial court overruled the objection. (App. p. 185, ll. 20-25). Similarly, Dr. Henderson testified Daughter Two's normal

examination was consistent with Dr. Henderson's opinion that Daughter Two had been sexually abused. (App. p. 188, ll. 3-11).

Perry denied touching or performing oral sex on Daughter Two, Daughter Three, or Newcomer. (App. p. 239, ll. 20-25; App. p. 240, ll. 12-25). Perry further denied lying in Daughter Two and Daughter Three's room next to the air mattress in the early morning hours. (App. p. 242, ll. 8-14). In fact, Perry was usually not up that early in the morning. (*Id.*). Perry testified that shortly before Daughter Two and Daughter Three made these accusations, his children became very upset when he moved in with his girlfriend, Angela Ramey. (App. p. 241, ll. 18-24). Ramey and their friend, Patty Frye, similarly testified Ramey and Perry's relationship with his children became tense when Ramey moved in with Perry. (App. p. 237, ll. 8-10; App. p. 238, ll. 1-4).

The jury found Perry guilty of first-degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) and second-degree CSC with Daughter Two. (App. p. 283, ll. 14-22). The jury also found Perry guilty of first-degree CSC and second-degree CSC with Daughter Three. (App. p. 283, ll. 23- App. p. 284, ll. 8). The trial court sentenced Perry to concurrent thirty-year sentences for each of the two first-degree CSC convictions and twenty-year sentences for each of the two second-degree CSC convictions. (App. p. 293, ll. 9-11). The Court of Appeals affirmed Perry's convictions. (App. 366).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding Newcomer's Testimony was Admissible Evidence of a Common Scheme or Plan. Moreover, Newcomer's Testimony was More Prejudicial than Probative under Rule 403, of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

a. Evidence of a Common Scheme or Plan

“[N]o tenet of evidence law in the context of ‘prior bad acts’ is more firmly established than the principle that propensity or character evidence is inadmissible to prove the specific crime charged” State v. Tuffour, 364 S.C. 497, 502, 613 S.E.2d 814, 817 (Ct. App. 2005), *vacated*, 371 S.C. 511, 641 S.E.2d 24 (2007). Evidence of other bad acts may be admitted only to prove defendant’s guilt if that evidence establishes: (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) absence of mistake or accident; (4) identity; or (5) a common scheme or plan involving other crimes so closely related to the one charged than proof of one tends to prove the other. Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E.2d 803 (1923).

With regard to a common scheme or plan exception, the State must prove more than a close degree of similarity between the prior bad acts and the crime charged to satisfy Lyle. State v. Timmons, 327 S.C. 48, 52, 488 S.E.2d 323, 325 (1997). In other words, the fact that a person commits two similar crimes does not satisfy the “common scheme or plan” exception. State v. Stokes, 279 S.C. 191, 193, 304 S.E.2d 814, 815 (1983). The mere presence or similarity only serves to enhance the potential for prejudice. State v. Parker, 315 S.C. 230, 234, 433 S.E.2d 831, 833 (1993). Instead, there must be a connection between the other prior bad acts and the crime charged “so that proof of the former tends to prove the latter.” Stokes, 279 S.C. at 193, 304 S.E.2d at 815.

In State v. Wallace, the Court held evidence of other acts of sexual misconduct was admissible in a trial for CSC with a minor as a common scheme or plan under Rule 404(b) if there was a “close degree of similarity” between the two acts. 384 S.C. 428, 434, 683 S.E.2d 275, 278 (2009). The trial court should weigh the similarities with the dissimilarities between the crime charged and the bad act evidence to determine whether there is a close degree of similarity. Id. at

433, 683 S.E.2d at 278. If the similarities outweigh the dissimilarities, the bad act evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b). Id.

The Wallace Court provided a number of factors the trial court should consider when determining whether the bad act and the crime charged had a close degree of similarity, including, (1) the age of the victims when the abuse occurred; (2) the relationship between the victims and the perpetrator; (3) the location where the abuse occurred; (4) the use of coercion or threats; and (5) the manner of occurrence, for example, the type of sexual battery. Id. Wallace essentially created an exception to Rule 404(b)'s exclusion of propensity evidence. In non-sexual offense cases, the mere presence of similarity only enhances the potential for prejudice; however, in cases where the defendant has been charged with a sexual offense, a close degree of similarity seems to satisfy Lyle.

In Wallace, the defendant was accused of sexually abusing a minor child by touching her breasts and digitally penetrating her. Id. at 431, 683 S.E.2d at 276-77. The defendant began touching the child's breasts when the child was in seventh grade. Id. at 431, 683 S.E.2d at 276. One night, the defendant pulled the child's pants off and "pushed his hands up her private parts." Id. The child disclosed the sexual abuse to her older sister the next day. Id. at 431, 683 S.E.2d at 277. The sister alleged the defendant had also sexually abused her from the time she was in seventh grade until she graduated from high school. Id. at 431, 683 S.E.2d at 277. The sister's abuse began with touching of the breasts, digital penetration and oral sex, and then progressed to the point of intercourse. Id. at 435, 683 S.E.2d at 278. The Supreme Court found the trial court had properly redacted the sister's testimony regarding intercourse, which was dissimilar to the child's abuse, to avoid unfair prejudice to the defendant. Id. The Court noted the fact that the

child's abuse was interrupted before it could culminate in intercourse did not diminish the similarity between the progression the abuse took in each case. Id.

Here, the Court of Appeals erred in finding Newcomer's testimony admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE. There was not a close degree of similarity between the alleged abuse of Newcomer and Daughter Two and Daughter Three's testimony. First, the ages of Daughter Two, Daughter Three, and Newcomer varied. See id. at 433, 683 S.E.2d at 278 (providing the age of the victims when the abuse occurred is a factor to consider when determining admissibility under Rule 404(b)). Daughter Two testified the abuse began when she was approximately five years old until she was almost seventeen years old, but Daughter Three and Newcomer testified Perry allegedly abused them during their tween years only. (App. p. 75, ll. 10-14; App. p. 77, ll. 8-13; App. p. 120, ll. 12-17; App. p. 127, ll. 1-12; App. p. 223, ll. 3-6; App. p. 224, ll. 19-22). Daughter Three and Newcomer's ages may have been similar; however, Daughter Two claimed she was sexually abused from when she was a young child until she was almost an adult. Second, the abuse occurred in different locations and at different times during the day. See id. Newcomer testified the abuse occurred at night, but Daughter Two and Daughter Three testified the sexual abuse usually occurred during the early morning hours between five to six a.m. Third, although Perry allegedly threatened Daughter Two, Daughter Three, and Newcomer, the content of the threats was different. See id. Daughter Two and Daughter Three testified Perry threatened they would get into trouble if they told, but Newcomer testified Perry said no one would believe her and the allegations would hurt their family.

Finally, and perhaps most dissimilar, during the proffer of Newcomer's testimony, she and the State indicated the sexual abuse progressed to intercourse. (App. p. 23, ll. 7-11). The trial court redacted a portion of Newcomer's testimony about having intercourse with Perry in an effort

to make that alleged bad act more similar to the charged crimes. This case is unlike Wallace where this Court found the trial court did not err in redacting the sister's testimony about having intercourse with the defendant. 384 S.C. at 435, 683 S.E.2d at 278. In Wallace, there was no opportunity for the abuse of the child to progress like the sister's abuse because the child reported the defendant digitally penetrated her the day after it happened. See id. Here, there was an opportunity for the alleged abuse of Daughter Two and Daughter Three to progress to intercourse like Newcomer. All three women testified the abuse spanned a number of years. Specifically, Daughter Two testified the abuse spanned almost a dozen years, much longer than Newcomer testified Perry had sexually abused her. However, Perry never had intercourse with Daughter Two. Thus, the type of sexual battery was dissimilar, and the trial court erred in redacting the dissimilarity of the type of sexual battery. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals erred in admitting Newcomer's testimony under Rule 404(b).

b. Rule 403

If the bad act evidence is found admissible under Rule 404(b), the court must then conduct the prejudice analysis required by Rule 403, SCRE. See id. at 435, 683 S.E.2d at 278. Thus, the prior bad act evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Rule 403, SCRE. The determination of the prejudicial effect of the evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007). Although remoteness in time between the prior bad act and the charged crime is not a dispositive factor, it is one that the court must consider when determining whether testimony is admissible. State v. McCombs, 410 S.C. 90, 101, 762 S.E.2d 744, 750 (Ct. App.

2014), *vacated*, 412 S.C. 282, 772 S.E.2d 510 (2015). The determination of the prejudicial effect of the evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007).

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