STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Greenville County  
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

**NOV 15 2017**

Opinion No. 2017-5503 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 7/26/17) **S.C. SUPREME COURT**  
Appellate Case No. 2017-001965

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

WALLACE STEVE PERRY,

PETITIONER.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 102259

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III.  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

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

---

<sup>3</sup> During the proffer, Newcomer testified, “One incident, I had two friends over. He snuck into my bedroom. The penetration and everything started. Then he got up and left.” R. pp. 28-29. It is unclear whether Newcomer is referring to digital penetration or penile penetration. The Court of Appeals correctly determined Newcomer never explicitly testified the abuse testified to intercourse. See Perry, 803 S.E.2d at 908-09.

608 S.E.2d at 466. During an in camera hearing, the witness stated Hubner – over the course of two months – hugged her and fondled her breasts while she was baby-sitting, massaged her vagina and buttocks through her clothes, masturbated in front of her, engaged in sexual intercourse with her, threatened to kill her if she revealed the abuse to anyone, kissed her, slapped her, involved other people in their sexual encounters, and offered her money to perform sexual acts on him. Id. at 579-581, 608 S.E.2d at 466-467. Following the hearing, the trial judge ruled the witness' testimony regarding the hugging, kissing, and inappropriate touching was admissible as evidence of the existence of a common scheme or plan but found any testimony related to the dissimilar acts was inadmissible. Id. at 582, 608 S.E.2d at 467. Following the trial, Hubner appealed his convictions and asserted the prior bad act evidence should not have been admitted. Id. at 575, 608 S.E.2d at 464. On appeal, this Court reversed Hubner's convictions after finding the acts were not sufficiently similar to be admissible under the common scheme or plan exception. Id. at 585, 608 S.E.2d at 469. However, this Court subsequently reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals and affirmed Hubner's convictions after finding the trial judge properly admitted the evidence of the prior sexual assaults. State v. Hubner, 384 S.C. 436, 437, 683 S.E.2d 279, 280 (2009). See also State v. Hallman, 298 S.C. 172, 379 S.E.2d 115 (1999) (holding evidence of common scheme or plan was admissible where all victims were foster children of defendant, ages of victims were similar, and sexual acts were similar), State v. McClellan, 283 S.C. 389, 323 S.E.2d 772 (1984) (holding evidence of common scheme or plan was admissible where both victims were defendant's biological daughters, ages of victims were similar, and sexual acts were similar), State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 748 S.E.2d 236 (Ct. App. 2013) (holding evidence of common scheme or plan was admissible where the prior bad act

testimony was sufficiently similar to the crime charged and was not too remote nor was the evidence's probative value substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice).

All five of the aforementioned factors demonstrate the significant degree of similarity between Petitioner's prior abuse of Newcomer and Petitioner's abuse of Victim 1 and Victim 2. The trial judge properly admitted the prior bad act evidence due to the similarities outweighing any potential dissimilarities.

**The Probative Value of the Prior Instances of Sexual Abuse by Petitioner Was Not Substantially Outweighed by the Threat of Unfair Prejudice.**

Evidence of prior bad acts must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. See Rule 403, SCRE; State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 513, 514 S.E.2d 578, 583 (1999). Prejudicial evidence is still proper unless it amounts to undue or unfair prejudice. See State v. Beck, 342 S.C. 129, 136-37, 536 S.E.2d 679, 683 (2000) ("We find that evidence of the [prior bad act], although certainly prejudicial to Appellant, is not unduly so under our previous decisions.). "'Unfair prejudice' within its context means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one." State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991).

The determination of the prejudicial effect of prior bad act evidence must be based on the entire record and the result generally hinges on the facts of each specific case. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007). "Where the evidence of the bad acts is so similar to the charged offense that the previous act enhances the probative value of the evidence so as to outweigh its prejudicial effect, it is admissible." State v. Mathis, 359 S.C. 450, 463, 597 S.E.2d 872, 879 (2004). "Stated differently, evidence which is 'logically relevant to establish a material element of the offense charged is not to be excluded merely because it incidentally

reveals the accused's guilt of another crime.” State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009) (quoting State v. Green, 261 S.C. 366, 371, 200 S.E.2d 74, 77 (1973)).

Due to the extreme similarities between the prior bad acts and the charged offense, the evidence had significant probative value. The evidence of prior instances of Petitioner's sexual misconduct where he previously performed the same sexual acts with another child he was in a father figure role with enhances the probative value of the evidence as to outweigh its prejudicial effect. There were striking similarities in regards to the age of the victims when the abuse occurred, the manner in which the abuse occurred, the nature of the abuse, the timing of the abuse, the location of the abuse, and other important factors. Cf. Wallace, 384 S.C. at 434, 683 S.E.2d at 278 (“Here, the similarities between the acts include petitioner's relationship to the victims (his stepdaughters), abuse beginning at about the same age, abuse occurring in the family home when the mother was absent, and an admonishment not to tell because no one would believe it. In sum, there are similarities in the class of victim, timing, place, and warning that outweigh any dissimilarity.”). Any potential prejudicial effect of the evidence comes from the evidence's legitimate probative value, and that prejudicial effect does not substantially outweigh the evidence's probative value. The trial judge, thus, properly declined to exclude the evidence under Rule 403, SCRE. This Court should deny certiorari.

## II.

**The Court of Appeals correctly found the trial judge properly overruled Petitioner's objection to Dr. Henderson's testimony where the full context of the testimony reveals that Dr. Henderson was providing permissible medical testimony concerning normal findings in cases involving sexual abuse. Furthermore, any alleged error is insubstantial and not sufficient to warrant reversal of Petitioner's conviction.**

### Relevant Facts

Dr. Nancy Henderson is a pediatrician employed with the Greenville Health System. R. p. 175. Dr. Henderson conducted an examination of Victim 1 and Victim 2 at the Child Advocacy Center in Spartanburg. R. p. 179.

Prior to physically examining Victim 2, Victim 2 shared details with Dr. Henderson concerning what the abuse entailed. R. p. 183. Based on Victim 2's description of the abuse, Dr. Henderson performed a head-to-toe physical exam and conducted tests related to concerns for sexually transmitted infections. R. p. 183. Dr. Henderson testified that during such an exam she is looking specifically at the genital area for any kind of tears, scars, or discharge. R. p. 184. Dr. Henderson testified that based on what Victim 2 shared regarding the particular sexual assault, she was looking for all of the aforementioned signs during the physical examination. R. p. 184. The Solicitor then asked, "Based on what [Victim 2] shared with you, did you expect to find any indications of injury." R. p. 184. Dr. Henderson responded, "It would have been very unlikely based on the information that she had shared to find anything on the exam." R. p. 184. Dr. Henderson elaborated:

At the time that I saw her, she was 16. The incidents had happened at least three years prior. So the genital area has incredibly good blood supply and even small tears or even larger tears can heal very, very quickly. So with there being years delay between the last incident and the time of the exam, it would make it unlikely to find something on the exam. Another reason that what she had shared happened often never finds any evidence on exam. So even if I had seen her

earlier, the likelihood of seeing a trauma, permanent trauma related to that is extremely uncommon.

R. pp. 184-85.

Dr. Henderson testified that aside from a minor amount of vaginal discharge, Victim 2's exam was normal. R. p. 185. The Solicitor then asked what "normal" meant. R. p. 185. Dr. Henderson responded:

Normal means that there were no tears, no scars, uh, and there were no specific findings on her exam that in and of itself would have linked to allegations of abuse. But in light of what she had shared with me and, as I mentioned, finding a normal exam is something quite common and not surprising in this particular case.

R. p. 185. The Solicitor then asked, "So in your opinion, were your findings consistent with [Victim 2] having experienced sexual abuse?" Dr. Henderson responded, "Yes." R. p. 185. Defense Counsel objected, arguing that the testimony amounted to improper vouching by the witness. The trial judge overruled the objection, ruling, "I think she testified that your findings were consistent. So I - - it's close, but I'm going to overrule your objection." R. p. 185.

Dr. Henderson's examination of Victim 1 also yielded normal results. R. p. 187. The Solicitor asked, "Based on what [Victim 1] described to you with respect to the abuse that she experienced, did you expect to find any injuries to [Victim 1]?" R. pp. 187-88. Dr. Henderson responded, "A normal exam would be quite common almost the majority of time with those type of allegations." R. p. 188. The Solicitor then asked, "And with respect to [Victim 1], were your findings during that examination consistent with the possibility that she had also experienced sexual abuse." R. p. 188. Dr. Henderson replied, "Yes, a normal exam would be consistent with those types of findings, with those allegations that she had made." R. p. 188.

## **Discussion**

Petitioner asserts Dr. Henderson improperly commented on the veracity of Victim 2's testimony. Specifically, Petitioner argues, "There is no way to interpret Dr. Henderson's testimony other than she believed Daughter Three's<sup>4</sup> allegations were true despite the fact that Daughter Three had a completely normal examination." Br. of App. p. 21. This argument lacks merit, as Dr. Henderson's testimony was merely stating that despite the fact her examination of Victim 2 revealed no injury, that finding could still be consistent with sexual assault due to the substantial time period between the assault and the examination. Even if Dr. Henderson's comment was deemed inappropriate, any error is insubstantial and not sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a reversal of Petitioner's conviction.

It is improper for an expert to comment on the veracity of a child's allegations of sexual abuse. State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011). Looking at the full and proper context of Dr. Henderson's testimony, it is clear that she was not commenting on the veracity of Victim 2's testimony. Instead, Dr. Henderson provided background medical knowledge on what a "normal" examination would look like in a situation where sexual assault occurred years prior to the examination. Dr. Henderson's statement, "But in light of what she had shared with me, and, as I mentioned, finding a normal exam is something quite common and not surprising in this particular case" related directly to the absence of any physical injury due to the delay in disclosure. Dr. Henderson's statement was not indicating that she believed Victim 2's allegations; Dr. Henderson was merely indicating that an absence of sexual injury can still be consistent with sexual assault given the delay in disclosure, that tears to the vagina tend to heal very quickly, and that physical exams often do not reveal injuries from digital and oral penetration. When the trial judge ruled, "I think she testified that your findings were consistent.

---

<sup>4</sup> "Daughter 3" in Petitioner's brief is the same as "Victim 2" in the Brief of Respondent.

So I - - it's close, but I'm going to overrule your objection," he recognized what the testimony truly meant when viewed in the context it was made and knew it was not improper even though it could appear to be so when stripped of context.

In Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637 (1974), the United States Supreme Court dealt with a question of whether remarks made by the prosecutor during closing argument, in the context of the entire trial, were sufficiently prejudicial to violate the respondent's due process rights. In upholding the respondent's conviction, the Court emphasized, "[A] court should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from the plethora of less damaging interpretations." Id. at 647. While Donnelly dealt with a closing argument issue, its logic is applicable to the current case. This Court should not infer that Dr. Henderson's testimony concerning what a "normal exam" was given the circumstances and whether a "normal" exam could still be consistent with sexual abuse was actually Dr. Henderson testifying she believed Victim 2's allegations. Instead, the full context reveals an intent to provide admissible expert medical testimony, not to bolster the credibility of the victims. Dr. Henderson's testimony, therefore, did not convey an improper or damaging meaning to the jury, and thus was not erroneously admitted. Cf. Jennings, 394 S.C. at 460, 716 S.E.2d at 94-95 ("There is **no other way** to interpret the language used in the reports other than to mean the forensic interviewer believed the children were being truthful.") (emphasis added); State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. at 109, 771 S.E.2d at 340 (2005) (finding the expert's recommendation that the defendant not be around Victim for any reason, could **only** be interpreted as the expert believing Victim's claim that the defendant sexually abused her) (emphasis added).

Even if this Court were to find that Dr. Henderson's testimony was an improper comment on the veracity of Victim 2's testimony, any error in the case is harmless. As a general rule, the appellate court will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Chavis, 412 S.C. at 109, 771 S.E.2d at 340. Determining whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case and no set rule governs this finding. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). Instead, the materiality and any prejudicial character of the alleged error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Id. The comment made by Dr. Henderson complained of on appeal was rendered harmless by the explanation and context of the remainder of her testimony. Furthermore, Dr. Henderson's statement was isolated, vague, and offered no clear indication she believed Victim 2. Also, the comment was never mentioned again during the remainder of trial, and the solicitor made no reference to it during his closing argument. Dr. Henderson's testimony was therefore not sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a reversal of Petitioner's conviction, especially in light of significant strength of the testimony from the other witnesses and the probative prior-bad act evidence. This Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.